
1 
 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
  ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
MINUTES OF A MEETING HELD May 24, 2016 

 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
Agenda 
 
SITE PLAN AMENDMENT REVIEW FOR KALAMAZOO CHINESE CHRISTIAN 
CHURCH, 5334 PARKVIEW AVENUE.  (PARCEL #3905-25-455-110)  
APPLICANT REQUESTED A 5,362 SQUARE FOOT ADDITION TO AN EXISTING 
CHURCH. (PARCEL #3905-35-450-001) 
 
PUBLIC HEARING ON A REQUEST FROM SCHLEY TRUST, 4200 SOUTH 9TH 
STREET FOR A VARIANCE FROM THE ZONING ORDINANCES, SPECIFICALLY 
SECTIONS 75.120.a AND 75.130 OF THE LANDSCAPING ORDINANCE AND 
SECTIONS 40.301.I.3 AND 40.301.N OF THE I-R: INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT, 
RESTRICTED ORDINANCE RELATED TO LANDSCAPING AND UTILITY LINES 
FOR THAT PORTION OF THE PROPERTY SUBJECT TO THE EASEMENT TAKEN 
BY MICHIGAN ELECTRIC TRANSMISSION CO., LLC. (PARCEL #3905-35-330-060) 
 
PUBLIC HEARING ON A REQUEST FROM KALAMAZOO STORAGE, LLC, 7694 
STADIUM DRIVE, FOR A VARIANCE FROM THE ZONING ORDINANCE, 
SPECIFICALLY SECTIONS 64.300 OF THE SETBACKS ORDINANCE AND 
SECTION 41.405 OF THE I-1: INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT ORDINANCE RELATED TO 
THE DISTANCE BETWEEN BUILDINGS WITHIN A MINI WAREHOUSE FACILITY. 
(PARCEL #3905-34-180-025) 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
A meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Board was held on Tuesday, May 
24, 2016, at approximately 3:00 p.m. at the Oshtemo Charter Township Hall. 
 
  MEMBERS PRESENT: James Sterenberg 
      Bob Anderson, Alternate 
      Nancy Culp 
      Millard Loy 
      Neil Sikora 
      L. Michael Smith, Alternate 
       
  MEMBER ABSENT:  Cheri Bell, Chair 
 

In the absence of Chairperson Bell, Mr. Sterenberg served as Acting Chair. 
 
 



2 
 

 Also present were Julie Johnston, Planning Director, James Porter, Attorney, 
Martha Coash, Meeting Transcriptionist, and approximately 10 interested persons. 
Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 Acting Chairperson Sterenberg invited those present to join in reciting the 
“Pledge of Allegiance.”   
 
Agenda Approval 
 
 The Chairperson asked if there were any changes to the agenda. Hearing none, 
he asked for a motion for approval. 
 
 Mr. Anderson made a motion to approve the agenda as presented. Mr. Sikora 
supported the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 
Approval of the Minutes of April 5, 2016 
 
 The Chairperson asked if there were any additions, deletions or corrections to 
the minutes of April 5, 2016. It was noted a correction of the date for the last meeting on 
page two in the motion for approval of the minutes needed to be corrected to April 5, 
2016. Hearing no further corrections, he asked for an approval motion.  
 
 Mr. Sikora made a motion to approve minutes of April 5, 2016 as corrected. Mr. 
Loy supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 
Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 
 There were no public comments on non-agenda items. 
 
 
SITE PLAN AMENDMENT REVIEW REQUEST FROM KALAMAZOO CHINESE 
CHRISTIAN CHURCH, 5334 PARKVIEW AVENUE FOR A 5,362 SQUARE FOOT 
ADDITION TO AN EXISTING CHURCH, (PARCEL #3905-25-455-110). 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg said the next item was a request for a site plan review 
and asked Ms. Johnston to review the application.  
 
 Ms. Johnston said the Kalamazoo Chinese Christian Fellowship was seeking site 
plan approval for a 5,362 square foot addition to the preexisting Chinese Christian 
Church located at 5334 Parkview Avenue in Oshtemo Township. Houses of Worship, 
being permitted uses within this zoning district, must receive approval from the Zoning 
Board of Appeals for any significant site plan changes. The proposed addition, 5,632 
square feet in size, is intended to house eight classrooms and a meeting space and will 



3 
 

increase the square footage of the existing building by more than 70%. There is one 
entrance from Parkview Ave., and the site is heavily wooded 
 
 Ms. Johnston said the current number of parking spaces available is 47. 
According to Township requirements an additional 41 spaces for a total of 91 spaces 
are required, which have been deferred. Additionally 17 more spaces are required 
based on "day care use" requirements since Staff feels those most closely relate to the 
proposed classrooms in the addition (one space for every five children). This would 
bring the total number of spaces required to 108. She noted Church officials feel the 
current 47 are more than sufficient for current and future use with the addition as 
proposed, but any approval should include a decision on parking spaces in order to 
produce a complete site plan. She noted 68.420 allows the approving body to grant a 
deferment.  
 
 Ms. Johnston said the proposed building addition for the Chinese Christian 
Fellowship complies with all zoning criteria and should not have any significant impact 
on either the subject property itself or the surrounding area and therefore recommended 
approval of the site plan amendment. She noted the Township Fire Marshal has 
indicated a second fire hydrant is needed.  If the Zoning Board of Appeals is inclined to 
approve the requested changes, Staff suggested the following conditions: 
 

• A parking needs analysis be submitted to Planning Staff, prior to building permit 
application, clearly indicating that the proposed amount of parking spaces comply 
with section 68.000 of the Zoning Ordinance. If parking expansion is required, 
then the lot shall be expanded in compliance with the ordinance, to be evaluated 
and approved by Staff. 

 
• The location of the new fire hydrant must be evaluated and approved by the 

Township Fire Marshal. 
 

• Prior to the issuance of a final certificate of occupancy, Planning Staff is to 
inspect the site, ensuring that sufficient screening remains along the east 
property line of the subject parcel. If additional plantings are needed, then they 
must meet the requirements of section 75.000 of the Zoning Ordinance, to be 
evaluated and approved by Staff. 

 
• Prior to the issuance of a final certificate of occupancy, the applicant is to submit 

the required non-motorized special assessment agreement to the Township. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg moved to Board questions and asked if there is a time 
constraint if parking space requirements are deferred. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said there is no time constraint. 
 
 Attorney Porter noted additional parking spaces are usually triggered when 
parking problems arise. 



4 
 

 The Chair also asked why a second fire hydrant would be required. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said a second hydrant is required to meet the distance from 
hydrant to the building requirement given the additional square footage being proposed. 
The applicant is willing to add a second hydrant when the Fire Marshal is available to 
determine placement. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked about the non-motorized plan requirement. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said the non-motorized path is planned along Parkview to the 
Village Core area at Stadium Drive and 9th Street. 
 
 There were no further Board questions: Chairperson Sterenberg asked if the 
applicant wished to speak. 
 
 Mr. Pat Flanagan, Civil Engineer, 1133 E. Milham Road, spoke on behalf of Mr. 
James Hinze, of Zion Church Builders, said he has been told the Church is satisfied 
with the current 47 parking spaces but will add more if needed. 10 spaces could be 
easily added along the south edge of the drive aisle or the lot could be expanded to the 
north. The new hydrant is placed on the plan about 40-50 feet from the new building 
corner with a note that says placement is subject to the Fire Marshal's review; there 
would be no problem moving it. 
 
 In answer to a question from Mr. Loy, Mr. Flanagan said the classrooms will be 
used for child day care while parents are attending services. 
 
 The Chairperson determined there was no one from the public who wished to 
speak, closed the public hearing and moved to Board Deliberation.  
 
 The Board considered each of the Staff recommendations and noted they would 
prefer not to pave any more than necessary for parking spaces and were in favor of 
deferring required additional parking until such time there is a problem. 
 
 Ms. Johnston suggested the recommendation for approval should include an 
additional 17 spaces to be deferred until needed, which would make the total number of 
deferred spaces 61. 
 
 Commissioners indicated they were in agreement with that suggestion and had 
no issues with the other three Staff conditions. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked for a motion on the recommendation. 
 
 Mr. Loy made a motion to approve the application as submitted based on 
requiring an additional 17 spaces to be deferred making the total deferred spaces 61 
and including conditions 2 - 4 as recommended by Staff. Mr. Anderson supported the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 



5 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ON A REQUEST FROM SCHLEY TRUST, 4200 SOUTH 9TH 
STREET FOR A VARIANCE FROM THE ZONING ORDINANCES, SPECIFICALLY 
SECTIONS 75.120.a AND 75.130 OF THE LANDSCAPING ORDINANCE AND 
SECTIONS 40.301.I.3 AND 40.301.N OF THE I-R: INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT, 
RESTRICTED ORDINANCE RELATED TO LANDSCAPING AND UTILITY LINES 
FOR THAT PORTION OF THE PROPERTY SUBJECT TO THE EASEMENT TAKEN 
BY MICHIGAN ELECTRIC TRANSMISSION COMPANY, LLC., (PARCEL #3905-35-
330-060). 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg said the next item was a request From Schley Trust for a 
variance from landscaping Ordinance requirements and asked Ms. Johnston to review 
the application.  
 
 Ms. Johnston said the Schley Trust was seeking a variance requesting relief from 
sections of both the I-R: Industrial District, Restricted and the Landscaping Ordinance 
for property located at 4200 South 9th Street for that portion of the property subject to 
the easement taken by Michigan Electric Transmission Company, LLC. (parcel #3905-
35-330-060).  
 
 A 220-foot easement for the ITC power line traverses the property near the 
western boundary and then reduces to a width of approximately 100 feet along the 
southern property line.   
 
 She listed the specific sections of the Zoning Ordinance that are applicable:  
 

Section 40.301.i.3: Special Exception Uses 
All improved areas of an individual site shall be landscaped with a variety of trees, 
shrubbery, and ground cover to create attractive natural buffers between adjacent 
uses and properties. 

 
Section 40.301.n: Special Exception Uses 
Public water and sanitary sewer shall be provided as part of the site development. 
All utilities, including telephone, electric and cable television, shall be placed 
underground. 
 
Section 75.120.A: General Provisions 
Portions of the site not devoted to floor area, parking, access ways or pedestrian use 
shall be appropriately landscaped with live plant material consisting of deciduous 
canopy and coniferous trees, understory trees, shrubs, ground cover, and grasses 
and maintained in a neat and orderly manner. 

 
Section 75.130: Greenspace Areas 
This section details the requirements for the buffer zones between properties 
depending on adjacent zoning or use.  For example, this address is zoned I-R 
District and has I-R District zoning to the north and south of the property.  Section 



6 
 

75.130 would require Greenspace Category A, which is minimum width of 10 feet 
and requires one canopy tree and two understory trees every 100 lineal feet. 

 Ms. Johnston explained the request to vary from Section 40.301.n will not be 
considered as part of this review.  After consultation with Attorney Porter, it was 
determined that the applicant has no responsibility to bury lines that are not considered 
part of a development or are planned for a specific property.   
 
 She said the request by the applicant is a nonuse variance, requiring a practical 
difficulty that is unique to their property. When considering a variance request, the 
Zoning Board of Appeals must insure that the “spirit of the ordinance is observed, public 
safety secured, and substantial justice done.” The Michigan courts have added that 
variances should only be granted in the case of unnecessary hardship for use variances 
or a practical difficulty for nonuse variances.  In addition, applicants must demonstrate 
that their plight is due to the unique circumstances particular to their property and that 
the problem is not self-created. 
 
 Ms. Johnston walked the Board through the Standards of Approval of a Nonuse 
Variance (practical difficulty): 
 
Standard: Conformance Unnecessarily Burdensome 

Are reasonable options for compliance available? 
Does reasonable use of the property exist with denial of the variance? 

 
 Ms. Johnston said Section 75.220 allows for flexibility within the landscaping 
ordinance, providing reasonable accommodations to meeting the landscaping materials 
requirement. She said the greenspace buffer planting materials could be accomplished 
just outside the easement boundary or by some other approach such as a fence, wall or 
hedge. 

 She said the requirements of Sections 40.301.i.3 and 75.120.A state that all 
areas not devoted to impervious surfaces should be appropriately landscaped with live 
plant material. This could be managed with ground cover or grasses within the 
easement area and trees and shrubs elsewhere throughout the property. 

Standard: Substantial Justice 
Applied to both applicant as well as to other property owners in district. 
Review past decisions of the ZBA for consistency (precedence). 
 

Ms. Johnston said past variances have allowed the reduction of the greenspace 
buffer width but the landscape materials were still required. 
 
Standard: Unique Physical Circumstances 

Are there unique physical limitations or conditions which prevent 
compliance? 

 



7 
 

 Ms. Johnston said Staff's review of the subject site did not uncover any physical 
hardship to the land that would make compliance with the Zoning Ordinance 
unnecessarily burdensome. 
  
Standard: Self-Created Hardship 

Are the conditions or circumstances which resulted in the variance request 
created by actions of the applicant? 

 
 She explained that technically, the placement of an easement on a property is a 
self-created hardship.  In this case, the hardship is created by the power company 
instead of the property owner who had no input into the location of the utility line.   
 
 Ms. Johnston said Staff recommended denial of the variance request from 
Sections 40.301.i.3 of the I-R: Industrial District, Restricted and Sections 75.120.A and 
75.130 of the Landscaping Ordinance for the following reasons: 
 

• No physical hardship exists on the property that necessitates the need for a 
variance. 
 

• Section 75.220: Exceptions allows the approving body to accept an alternate 
approach to the landscaping materials requirement. 
 

• Previous variances did not reduce the required landscaping materials defined by 
the Landscaping Ordinance.  The denial of this request is in keeping with these 
decisions, providing equal treatment and substantial justice. 
 

 She noted as stated, the variance request to Section 40.301.n of the I-R District 
was not considered in this staff report because it was determined the applicant has no 
responsibility to bury the utility lines. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked if there were questions from the Board. 
 
 Mr. Anderson asked if there was any recourse with the power company. 
 
 Attorney Porter said the easement cuts across the property line of the applicant 
where the buffer was in place. ITC took that; in essence the buffer was lost through no 
fault of the property owners. Hopefully the applicant and ITC need to address the issue 
of the taking. Although there is an "easement agreement" that does not mean the 
parties sat down and came to an agreement. This is a case of eminent domain. His 
understanding is it is in litigation. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said the easement language is pretty standard about what can be 
removed. There is no control by the property owner. 
 



8 
 

 Attorney Porter explained the only issue for this Board is whether to approve or 
deny the variance that has been requested. Whether or not it should be granted should 
be based on the criteria presented.  
 
 There were no further questions from Commissioners. Chairperson Sterenberg 
asked if the applicant wished to speak. 
 
 Mr. Terry Schley, 7497 Watermark Drive, Allendale, MI spoke to the Board on 
behalf of himself and Jacqueline Schley, owners of the property at 4200 South 9th 
Street in Oshtemo Township. 
 
 Mr. Schley read from prepared text, attached as an addendum to these minutes. 
 
 Following Mr. Schley's remarks, Attorney Porter said the application requests a 
perpetual variance for certain standards, but that he heard something different in Mr. 
Schley's presentation. Since that was the case, he felt there needs to be some time for 
the Board to take further input to clarify what relief is being sought and what relief, if 
any, the Board would be willing to grant. He suggested tabling this matter to analyze 
what Mr. Schley presented at the meeting, to review the Ordinance and to try to look for 
some middle ground in order to address the issue. 
 
 Mr. Schley said he did not mean to dissuade the Commission from the variance, 
but based on personal interest, he felt 75.220 had to be challenged. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked of there were any public comments.  
 
 Hearing none, he moved to Board Discussion and asked how Commissioners 
felt, taking into consideration standards, and comments from Staff and Attorney Porter. 
 
 Mr. Loy said he felt Attorney Porter's advice should be taken to table this item 
timely to be fair to both Mr. Schley and Staff. 
 
 In answer to a question from Mr. Anderson who wondered if the property were 
developed in pieces whether the landscaping requests would be considered individually, 
Attorney Porter said the Board needs to address the issue as the property exists today; 
speculation is not an issue for the Board. 
 
 Attorney Porter repeated his suggestion to table this item for analysis. He noted if 
some midpoint were reached it may require some expense to acknowledge the impact 
of "taking" the property. Should the Township capitulate because ITC slaughtered every 
tree on the line? Examination of the totality of the request vs. Staff's response needs to 
be done and an approach developed regarding how to proceed. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked for a motion to table this item to June 28 after 
confirming that was acceptable to both Staff and Mr. Schley. 
 



9 
 

 Mr. Sikora made a motion to table the variance request for the property at 4200 
S. 9th Street until the June 28, 2016 meeting of the Planning Commission. Mr. 
Anderson supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING ON A REQUEST FROM KALAMAZOO STORAGE, LLC, 7694 
STADIUM DRIVE FOR A VARIANCE FROM THE ZONING ORDINANCE, 
SPECIFICALLY SECTIONS 64.300 OF THE SETBACKS ORDINANCE AND 
SECTION 41.405 OF THE I-1: INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT ORDINANCE RELATED TO 
THE DISTANCE BETWEEN BUILDINGS WITHIN A MINI WAREHOUSE FACILITY. 
(PARCEL #3905-34-180-025) 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg moved to the next item on the agenda and asked Ms. 
Johnston to review the request for variance for Commissioners. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said Kalamazoo Storage, LLD, 7694 Stadium Drive was requesting 
variances to: 
 

• Section 64.300: Setbacks for Business and Industrial Districts, which requires a 
70-foot setback from Stadium Park Way, and 
 

• Section 41.405: Supplemental development standards for storage facilities in I-1 
zoning districts, which requires a 30-foot setback between buildings 

 
 Ms. Johnston said the applicant, representing Kalamazoo Storage, LLC, is 
requesting the variances to allow for the development of a self-storage facility. The 
request is a nonuse variance, requiring a practical difficulty that is unique to their 
property.  
 
 When considering a variance request, the ZBA must ensure the “spirit of the 
ordinance is observed, public safety secured, and substantial justice done.” 
 

Ms. Johnston walked the Board through the Setback Variance Standards: 
 
Unique Physical Circumstances 
 Ms. Johnston said the property is 200 feet in width and 1,785 feet in length, 
which is a depth to width ratio of almost 9:1. The property abuts Stadium Park Way for 
565 feet of its 1,785 feet in length. The 70 foot setback reduces the buildable width to 
130 feet for this 565 feet, resulting in varied setbacks on the lot. 
 
Substantial Justice 

Ms. Johnston said all properties zoned as I-1are required to have a minimum 
setback of 70 feet from all street rights-of-way. The Zoning Ordinance allows for 
reduced setbacks on interior streets. An example is Section 50.000, which governs the 
9th Street and West Main Overlay Zone, and allows a 15-foot building setback on interior 
streets to developments. Past variances have been granted for reduced setbacks on 
local roads and for narrow lots. 



10 
 

 
Self-Created Hardship 
 She said the variance request is a result of the minimum setback that is required 
from the Stadium Park Way right-of-way, which greatly impacts the narrow parcel. This 
condition was not created by the applicant. 

 Ms. Johnston said Staff recommended approval of the variance request from 
Section 64.300 for the following reasons: 

• The unique shape of the parcel with a 9:1 depth to width ratio constitutes a 
practical difficulty in complying with a 70-foot setback requirement from Stadium 
Park Way. 
 

• The practical difficulty is not self-created. 
 

• Previous variances granted reductions from the setback requirement to 
properties with similar conditions. The approval is in keeping with these 
decisions, providing equal treatment and substantial justice. 

 
 
 Ms. Johnston continued, addressing the second request from the applicant who 
felt the 30 feet required spacing between buildings is excessive and requested that the 
minimum spacing be reduced to 24 feet between buildings, arguing that this 
accommodation will serve to dissuade improper parking and prevent vehicles backing 
into the buildings without compromising any public safety considerations. 
 
 Ms. Johnston walked the Board through the Setback Variance Standards: 
 
Unique Physical Circumstances 
 She said while the property is long and narrow, the placement of buildings for the 
self-storage development can be placed parallel to Stadium Drive (garage doors facing 
north/south) slowing for the construction of a number of structures. 
 
Substantial Justice 
 Ms. Johnston said Staff was unable to find any past instances of relief being 
requested from the 30 f-foot spacing requirement. This standard is required for any 
storage facilities located in the I-1 zoning district and has been consistently applied by 
the Township in the past. 
 
Self-created Hardship 
 Given there are no physical or other factors that would prevent compliance, Staff 
considered the hardship to be self-created. 
 
Public Safety 
 She said separation is intended to assist with the prevention of fire spread and to 
provide room for emergency vehicles, including a pass through lane. Reduction of these 
lanes could compromise public safety. 



11 
 

  
Staff recommended denial of the variance request from section 41.405: 

Supplemental development standards for storage facilities in I-1 zoning districts for the 
following reasons: 
 

• The difficulty is self-made, and compliance with the 30 foot spacing requirement is 
not unnecessarily burdensome. 
 

• No previous variances could be found where this reduction was granted.  The 
denial provides equal treatment and substantial justice. 
 

• Public health, safety, and welfare could be compromised.  
 
 

There were no questions for Ms. Johnston and no comments from the applicant. 
 
Chairperson Sterenberg determined no one from the public had any comment. 
 
Mr. Sterenberg asked for a motion to approve the setback request. 
 

Mr. Loy made a motion to approve the variance request from Kalamazoo Storage, 
LLC, 7694 Stadium Drive to reduce the set back from 70 feet to 20 feet. Mr. Anderson 
supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 Mr. Sterenberg asked for a motion to deny the request to reduce the spacing 
between buildings from 30 to 24 feet. 
 
 Mr. Loy made a motion to deny the variance request from Kalamazoo Storage, 
LLC, 7694 Stadium Drive, to reduce the spacing between buildings from 30 to 24 feet. 
Mr. Sikora supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 
Any Other Business / ZBA Member Comments 
 
 There was no other business/no member comments. 
 
 
Adjournment 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg noted the Zoning Board of Appeals had exhausted its 
Agenda, and with there being no other business, adjourned the meeting at 
approximately 4:55 p.m. 
 
 
 
 



12 
 

 
Minutes prepared: 
May 26, 2016 
 
Minutes approved: 
June 28, 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 




























	ZB Minutes of May 24 2016
	May 24 Addendum
	Schley Comments


